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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
PENSACOLA DIVISION

LINDA MCLAIN and
COLLEEN GAMER
individually on behalf of themselves
and those similarly situated
Case No.: 3:16-CV-00502
Plaintiffs,
CLASS ACTION
V. COMPLAINT

SAMUEL POPPELL and
EMERALD COAST EYE
INSTITUTE, LLC f/k/a EMERALD
COAST EYE INSTITUTE, PA

Defendants
/

COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs Linda McLain and Colleen Gamer ("Plaif®” “McLain,” or
“Gamer”) bring this action against Samuel Poppeld sEmerald Coast Eye
Institute, LLC f/k/a Emerald Coast Eye InstituteA Rhereinafter “ECEI,”
“Poppell,” or collectively “Defendants”) on behaif themselves and on behalf of
similarly situated 401(k) plan participants. Basad personal knowledge and
information obtained from investigation by counaeld discovery in this matter,
Plaintiffs allege as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiff Linda “Lynn” McLain (hereinafter “McLain) is currently a
1
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resident of Davidson County, Tennessee. McLain wagployed as Practice
Administrator of ECEIl until she was terminated on about July 17, 2015.
McLain was a participant, as defined in ERISA 8)3¢B U.S.C. 8§ 1002(7), in the
ECEI 401(k) Retirement Plan (“the ECEI Plan” ordRl) during the relevant time
period. The ECEI Plan is a defined contributionnptaubject to ERISA. At all

relevant times, prior to her termination, Ms. Mabdiad 401k funds allocated to
the ECEI Plan.

2. Plaintiff Colleen Gamer (hereinafter “Gamer”) is rasident of
Okaloosa County, Florida. She was previously enmgdowith ECEI as Clinical
Director until on or about July 17 2015, when sheswerminated. Gamer was a
participant, as defined in ERISA § 3(7), 29 U.8QA.002(7), in the ECEI Plan. At
all relevant times, prior to her termination, Msar@er had 401k funds allocated to
the ECEI Plan.

3. Defendant Emerald Coast Eye Institute, LLC (hergandECEI"), is
a Delaware corporation with its principal placebofsiness in Okaloosa County,
Florida. ECEI provides eye care services and siggen Fort Walton Beach,
Destin, and Crestview offices. ECEI regularly cotiduand transacts business in
Okaloosa County, Florida. ECEI, LLC was formerlyolwn as Emerald Coast Eye
Institute, PA. However, on or about January 29,02Ghe business name was

transitioned from ECEI, PA to ECEI, LLC. Throughahie name change ECEI



Case 3:16-cv-00502-MCR-CJK Document 1 Filed 09/30/16 Page 3 of 26

retained the same employees, business addressyandbank account numbers.

4. Defendant Samuel Poppell (hereinafter “Poppell”)aigesident of
Okaloosa County, Florida. He is the founder, ppati and registered agent of
ECEI. Poppell was the trustee and fiduciary of E@EI Plan. At all relevant
times, Poppell selected and controlled the investsieeld in the ECEI Plan.

5.  Plaintiffs McLain and Gamer sue on their own behahd, as
specified below, on behalf of participants in arehdficiaries of the ECEI plan.
Plaintiffs and the class have exhausted adminggraemedies. On June 7, 2016,
Plaintiff McLain made a demand on Defendants oraliesf herself and the other
participants of the plan requesting Defendants dgmthe losses caused by
Defendants’ wrongful actions. However, Defendanévehnever responded to
Plaintiff McLain’s letter or remedied the damagesused by their breaches of
fiduciary duties.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over thester pursuant to
ERISA § 502(e)(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e)(2), and 28.0. § 1331.

7. Venue is proper in this district because Defendaatsde in this
District, Defendants conduct business in this stand the harm complained of

herein emanated from this District.
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

The 401(k) Plan

8. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the ECHArPinvolved in this
matter was an employee benefit plan within the nmgpof ERISA.

9. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the ECHhfPwas a “defined
contribution” or “individual account” plan withirhe meaning of ERISA because,
among other reasons, the plans provided for indalidaccounts for each
participant and for benefits based solely upon d@n@ount contributed to the
participant’s account, as well as any income, egpgngains and losses, and
forfeitures of accounts of other participants tt@ild be allocated to such
participants’ accounts.

10. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the pagants in the ECEI
Plan were limited to the investments selectedHerglan by Defendants.

11. Plaintiffs McLain and Gamer were participants ie thCEI Plan at all
relevant times until their terminations in or arduduly 2015 or until the ECEI
Plan was terminated in or around October 2015.

Defendants’ Duties

12. ERISA defines a fiduciary as someone who “(i) elswms any
discretionary authority or discretionary controspecting management of such

plan or exercises any authority or control respgcthanagement or disposition of
4
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its assets, (ii) renders investment advice foreadieother compensation, direct or
indirect, with respect to any moneys or other prgpef such plan, or has any
authority or responsibility to do so, or (iii) hasy discretionary authority or
discretionary responsibility in the administratiosf such plan.” ERISA §
3(21)(A)(1), 29 U.S.C. 8§ 1002(21)(A)(i)). People arahtities are fiduciaries
pursuant to ERISA not only when they are namedidagifaries under ERISA §
402(a)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1102(a)(1), but also whesytperform such fiduciary
functions. Investment managers are also ERISAciaties. ERISA defines in
relevant part an “investment manager” as one whas “the power to manage,
acquire, or dispose of any asset of a plan”; igistered as an investment adviser”;
Is a bank; or has acknowledged in writing that hehe is a fiduciary with respect
to the plan. ERISA § 3(38), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(38RI¥A’'s mandate that
fiduciaries operate with an “eye single” to theemsts of plan participants and
beneficiaries.See, e.g.John Blair Communications, Inc. Profit Sharing Plan
Telemundo Group, Inc. Profit Sharing PlaR6 F.3d 360, 367 (2d Cir. 1994).
ERISA’s fiduciary duties are, of course, “the highknown to the law.Donovan
v. Bierwirth, 680 F.2d 263, 272 n.2 (2d Cir. 1982).

13. At all times relevant, Defendants served as InvestmAdvisor,
Investment Manager, Trustee and/or Custodian oEMEI Plan. Defendants were

fiduciaries to the ECEIl Plan who possessed investnagscretion and made
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investment decisions relating to the ECEI Plan.e Phrticipants did not possess
the ability to direct the manner in which the Deafants entities invested or
allocated the ECEI Plan’s assets.

14. One critical aspect of ERISA’s duty of prudencetl® duty to
diversify. ERISA requires that a fiduciary “divefigi the investments of the plan
so as to minimize the risk of large losses, unl@sder the circumstances it is
clearly prudent not to do so.” 29 U.S.C. § 1104%a)(Defendants were keenly
aware of their duties as fiduciaries. In fact, dhparty administrator and record-
keeper of the ECEI Plan, Warren Averett, providezgfdDddants a Department of
Labor brochure entitled “Meeting Your Fiduciary &d’, which stated, in part:

Fiduciaries have important responsibilities and a@bject to
standards of conduct because they act on behadauicipants in a
retirement plan and their beneficiaries. Theseaesipilities include:

» Acting solely in the interest of plan participardad their
beneficiaries and with the exclusive purpose ofviliag
benefits to them:;

» Carrying out their duties prudently;

* Following the plan documents (unless inconsisterith w
ERISA)

» Diversifying plan investments; and

* Paying only reasonable plan expenses.

The duty to act prudently is one of a fiduciary'sntral
responsibilities under ERISA. It requires expertisea variety of
areas, such as investments. Lacking that expedidejuciary will
want to hire someone with that professional knogéetb carry out
the investment and other functions.



Case 3:16-cv-00502-MCR-CJK Document 1 Filed 09/30/16 Page 7 of 26

Fiduciary Investment Standards under ERISA

15. Under ERISA, “[a] fiduciary must discharge his respibilities ‘with
the care, skill, prudence, and diligence’ that adpnt person ‘acting in a like
capacity and familiar with such matters’ would tisEbble v. Edison Int1135 S.
Ct. 1823, 1828, 191 L. Ed. 2d 795 (2015) (quotirigl84(a)(1)).

16. One critical aspect of ERISA’s duty of prudenceti® duty to
diversify. ERISA requires that a fiduciary “divefg] the investments of the plan
so as to minimize the risk of large losses, unl@sder the circumstances it is
clearly prudent not to do so.” 29 U.S.C. § 1104td)(The duty to diversify
requires, among other things, diversity not onlyoagspecific securities but also
among industries or sectots.re Unisys Savings Plan Litig74 F.3d at 438.

17. Prudent investment management requires that sesupbrtfolios
be diversified because diversification reduces ngkhout reducing expected
returns. Principles of diversification enable arvestment portfolio to take
maximum advantage of market conditions in speesiictors and to protect against
downturns in one particular sector.

18. When a portfolio is concentrated in a specific siguor even a
specific sector, the value of the portfolio canpstarply if that sector experiences
a general downturn. If the portfolio, however, @amposed of multiple securities

across multiple sectors, some may go down in valbh#de others may remain
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stable or go up. Different types of fixed incomeegmries will generally not lose
value at the same rate or at the same time.

19. Correlation is an industry standard that measurew klifferent
securities move in tandem. A diversified portfasleould consist of a portfolio of
securities that do not move in unison. Two se@sgithat are perfectly correlated is
a 1. Two securities that are perfectly inversely@ated is -1. Two securities that
have no correlation is O — often referred to as ¢owelation.

20. Modern Portfolio Theory (“MPT”), the industry staard for prudent
portfolio management for over twenty years, emplthg use of correlations for
identifying categories and sectors that are looselyelated and do not move in
tandem. Creating a diversified portfolio of fixescome securities from multiple
sectors and sub-sectors, and multiple categoribghwhave low correlations, is
the foundation of MPT.

21. Financial professionals generally assert that asBetation is the
most important determinant of variability of retarraccounting for more than 90
percent of the differences in performance acrosffghos. This assertion stems
from the well-known studies by Brinson, Hood, anéeBower which state,
"...iInvestment policy dominates investment strategparket timing and security

selection), explaining on average 93.6 percerti@f/ariation in total plan return."

! Ibbotson Associates, ed. Stocks, Bonds, Bills, lafidtion 2005 Yearbook. Chicago: Ibbotson
8
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In simple terms, asset allocation is simply the ofistocks, bonds, cash, and other
investments in a portfolio.

22. Under ERISA, fiduciaries have the duty to invedigalternative
investments to determine if other investments amaglable which might deliver
appropriate benefits for less risk.

23. Not only do ERISA fiduciaries have the duty to sel@rudent
investments and the duty to diversify from the eytbut because fiduciary duty
under ERISAis “derived from the common law of trustsCentral States,
Southeast & Southwest Areas Pension Fund v. Cemtaalsport, Inc. 472 U.S.
559, 570, a trustee under ERISA “has a continuiaty’d— “separate and apart
from the duty to exercise prudence in selectingestments at the outset” - “to
monitor trust investments and remove imprudent 8nEbble v. Edison Int1135
S. Ct. 1823, 1825, 191 L. Ed. 2d 795 (2015).

24. Undertaking some kind of investigation regarding therits of the
securities held in an ERISA Plan or belief that'sraetions are in the best interest
of the plan is insufficient to satisfy the dutidgpoudence and diversification under
ERISA, if the means themselves were not prudenapmpropriate, particularly
where application of prudent means could have @&dbidndue risk. See GIW

Indus., Inc. v. Trevor, Stewart, Burton & Jacobskrt,, 895 F.2d 729, 732-33

Associates, 2005.



Case 3:16-cv-00502-MCR-CJK Document 1 Filed 09/30/16 Page 10 of 26

(11th Cir. 1990) (“even though appellant investghimarket conditions before
making its investment decision, it did not emplbg proper methods to structure
the investment to fit the specific needs of [theh& . . . .”) (citingDonovan v.
Mazzola 716 F.2d 1226, 1232 (9th Cir.1983) (cert. denéi U.S. 1040 (1984)
(the question is whether the trustees, at the thmeg engaged in the challenged
transactions, “employed the appropriate methodmvestigate the merits of the
investment and to structure the investment”)).

Defendants’ Actions Breached their Duties under$&RI

25. During the relevant time period, Defendants, thiougefendant
Poppell, selected the investments for the ECEI Rlaoh directed the allocation of
the Plan assets to those investments. Defendantsigh Defendant Poppell, also
directed all changes in Plan investments and dllmtamong those investments
during the relevant time period.

26. Poppell was not a licensed or registered investnahtisor or
financial professional, and he did not maintaintiteations in any investment
related area. He had no meaningful expertise, aoun; or professional
knowledge in finance, investment management, dfgimr management.

27. On multiple occasions Defendants rejected suggestiand
recommendations, including from Warren Averettratain a qualified investment

advisor or manager to manage the ECEI Plan patfoli

10
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28. Defendants improperly allocated and managed the |EEEN.
Defendants failed to prudently invest the ECEI Pléailed to diversify Plan
investments, and failed to properly monitor and aeeninappropriate holdings.
For instance, Defendants chose to significantlyceatrate the ECEI Plan assets in
a single holding, VirnetX (VHC), and further failéd remove this holding as it
continued to lose value. The ECEI Plan’s non-caslestments were at times
entirely concentrated, or nearly entirely concdettain VirnetX.

29. On information and belief, Defendants learned ofngiX through
online message boards and unqualified or specalaiiwestment blog-type
websites. Defendants did not conduct sufficientadequate due diligence of
VirnetX or many of the other securities purchasethe ECEI Plan portfolio.

30. VirnetX has widely been identified as, referredaty and accused of
being a “Patent Troll® Patent Trolls are companies that exist primarity o
exclusively to pursue aggressive patent-infringegm&&awsuits against other
companies.

31. On information and belief, VirnetX has either negetd any actual

product or only sold @e minimisamount of actual product. In fact, VirnetX has

2 James Bessen, et dlhe Private and Social Costs of Patent Tro#4 REGULATION 4 (Winter 2011-2012); John
PaczkowskiyVirnetX Holding Soon to Be Holding $105.75 MilliohMicrosoft's MoneyAll Things D (March 17,
2010),available athttp://allthingsd.com/20100317/virnetx-holding-sem-be-holding-105-75-million-of-
microsofts-money/ (last accessed Sept. 18, 201&)dR MarsdenHow VirnetX beat Apple: The Strange Case of
the Patent TrollsThe Independent (Feb. 17, 2016) available at/httyyw.independent.co.uk/life-style/gadgets-
and-tech/how-virnetx-beat-apple-the-strange-cagiapatent-trolls-a6880036.html (last accessed. 38p 2016);
Jeff John Robert#fter $625M Win in Apple Trial, Patent Firm MovesShut Down FaceTimé&ortune (May 26,
2016) available at http://fortune.com/2016/05/26¢eme-injunction/ (last accessed Sept. 18, 2016).

11
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little, if any, ongoing Research and Development] the company owned only a
handful of patents in 2012. Before VirnetX becampudlicly traded company,
many of its supposedly valuable patents lay dornfanta decade or more.
VirnetX’'s primary business has been acting as anpdtoll, acquiring dozens of
patents and attempting to bring litigation agaalktged violators of those patents.
Indeed, during the time the ECEI Plan was conctedran VirnetX, the value of
VirnetX’'s stock largely hinged upon the outcome litifjation with the Apple
Company, a fact well known to Poppell. As suchnetX’s business model was
inherently speculative and prone to extreme vatatil

32. As of December 31, 2014, the ECEI Plan’s total expe to VirnetX
was in excess of 50%, with the remaining holdingsicentrated in cash
equivalents. By the end of 2014, the ECEI Plan'sitm in VirnetX had already
declined in value by $543,235.91 since Defendanisal purchase.

33. On or about the morning of September 16, 2014, é¥¥nstock
plummeted in value by nearly 50%. Through the dliof this Complaint,
VirnetX’'s share prices have declined over 90% caegbado the share price on
June 1, 2012.

34. A portfolio concentrated in VirnetX would have pmrhed radically
different from every generally accepted investmegtichmark. During that same

time period that VirnetX’s shares declined in valoe over 90%, the Nasdaq

12
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experienced gains of approximately 90%, the S&P BQPerienced gains of
approximately 67%, and the Dow Jones experiencet gd approximately 49%.
A concentrated investment in VirnetX grossly uneéefprmed virtually every
recognized benchmark during the time period froh2® the present.

35. Exposing the substantial majority of the ECEIl Psamvestment
assets to a single security in a single sectoerise a violation of ERISA’s duty of
prudence and duty to diversify because such a axgiosure to the technology
sector, and even worse just one company within téehnology sector,
exponentially increased the “risk of large loss@&s”the event of a general
downturn in the technology market or a VirnetX spedownturn caused specific
iIssues relating to the company’s business.

36. Defendants knew at the time they made these inesdthow poorly
diversified and allocated they were. The portfolidlocations selected by
Defendants otherwise failed to comply with prudemtestment standards.

37. The ECEI Plan’s portfolio was improperly allocatadd managed,
including being overweighted to equities and othiigher risk investments without
appropriate asset allocation or diversificationhemige against unnecessary risks.
The Plan also held an outsized cash position whadked to hedge against the

significant risks of the concentrated VirtnetX halgl

13
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38. Defendants knew or should have known that in takungh significant
risks they were not acting in the best interestpain participants and their
beneficiaries, particularly in light of the factathnumerous class members were at
or near retirement age.

39. Defendants either intentionally concentrated th&ERlan’s assets in
investments they knew to be volatile and riskyabminimum, were negligent and
not reasonably prudent in researching and undelisigithe risks of investments
or even understanding or applying basic investnamiciples such as asset
allocation and diversification. Defendants furtli@ted to conduct adequate due
diligence or obtain appropriate education and/ortife@tions necessary to
appropriately manage the ECEI Plan’s portfolio. éefants additionally failed to
monitor and remove imprudent investments.

40. In or around October 2015, Defendants terminated=e@GEI Plan.

41. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs anembers of the class
suffered significant losses. In particular, the E@®#an suffered actual losses in
excess of $600,000, and additional underperformaaoeages estimated to be in
excess of $500,000.

Defendants’ Wrongful and Retaliatory TerminationRbintiffs who were Acting
as Whistleblowers

42. Plaintiffs McLain and Gamer each separately comgldiregarding

the Defendants’ the mismanagement of the ECEI &tahthe Defendants’ failure

14
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to meet their fiduciary duty to the plan, plan papiants, and their beneficiaries.
Following their complaints, McLain and Gamer weghbterminated.

43. After noting the losses experienced by the ECEh Rtathe fall of
2014, Plaintiff McLain contacted the ECEI Plan’srdhparty administrator to
express concerns relating to losses suffered byPthe — and therefore by the
participants.

44. In or around February 2015, Plaintiff McLain schiedua telephone
call with Warren Averett, specifically Gene BarkgBarker”) and llona Borish
(“Borish”), to address her continued concerns dmathly regarding the prudent
management, fiduciary duty, and diversification uiegments of ERISA. After
Plaintiff McLain’s phone call, Borish spoke with Bmell. At that time, Borish
informed Poppell of the concerns raised by PldinkfcLain regarding the
management of the ECEI Plan. At that time, on @ual-ebruary 19, 2015, Borish
noted to Poppell that the investments in the ECIBh Rvere not diversified and
that they were “in cash and in one specific segd0WiRNETX.” Borish reminded
Poppell that “[a]s trustee of the plan, you areesting all assets of all participants
and have a fiduciary obligation to invest prudeitlBorish again suggested
Defendants retain a properly credentialed investradrisor to manage the ECEI

Plan.

15



Case 3:16-cv-00502-MCR-CJK Document 1 Filed 09/30/16 Page 16 of 26

45. In or around late June 2015, Plaintiff McLain deled the ECEI Plan
statements to employees pursuant to Defendantsuat®ns. As a number of plan
participants began to complain, Plaintiff McLaimmumunicated those concerns to
Defendants. Poppell became upset and threatenedioge the ECEI Plan
altogether (an action he ultimately pursued). At ttime, Plaintiff McLain again
reached out to the third party administrators atrdraAverett and suggested an
additional meeting to address the concerns withmtaeagement of the ECEI Plan.

46. On or about June 28, 2015, Plaintiff Gamer conf&dnPoppell
regarding the mismanagement of the ECEI Plan amditmificant losses the Plan
had incurred under Poppell's management. When tiffa@®@amer inquired as to
when Poppell would remedy the situation caused ibyirhprudent management,
Poppell became angry and terminated the convensatio

47. After inquiring as to the ECEI Plan at the endwfie, Plaintiff Gamer
was terminated on July 17 2015.

48. In or around July 2015, Plaintiff McLain again cacted Warren
Averett in an effort to inquire as to the admirasion of the ECEI Plan and the
consistency of Defendants’ management with Defetsdaaties under ERISA. In
response to McLain’s inquiries, on or about July 2@15, Borish emailed Poppell
with a number of recommendations, including meetimdy employees to address

their concerns. Borishgain provided Poppell with a copy of the Department of

16
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Labor brochure titled “Meeting Your Fiduciary Respgibilities” and
recommended that Poppell read the broclagi@n Borish also suggested several
alternatives to Poppell continuing to serve asttbstee of the plan, and Borish
again recommended that Poppell meet with an outsndkestment advisor
regarding “changing the current operations of yaan.”

49. The next morning, July 17, 2015, Defendants alsoiteated Plaintiff
McLain. Significantly, both Plaintiffs McLain and &ner were terminated by
Defendants on this same date after challenging &kbgpmanagement of the Plan.

50. Defendants’ decisions to terminate Plaintiffs MecLand Gamer were
intended primarily to retaliate against PlaintifeLain and Gamer for exercising
their rights under ERISA and/or to interfere witlaiRtiffs’ ability to attain their
vested rights.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

51. Class Definition. Plaintiffs brings this matter as a class action
pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(b)(1), (b)(2), and, in the
alternative, (b)(3). Plaintiffs file this case oehalf of the following proposed
class:

All participants of the ECEI plan, as well as beciafies of those
plans, who were invested directly or indirectly timle ECEI Plan
between the date on which Poppell became Trustédeagaumed
investment management for the ECEI Plan and the idaOctober

2015 on which the ECEI Plan was terminated. Exaufiem the
Class are the jurists to whom this case is assjgagdvell as their

17
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respective staffs; counsel who appear in this casewell as their
respective staffs, including experts they empldye Defendants in
this matter; any person, firm, trust, corporatioffjcer, director, or
other individual or entity in which a Defendant hascontrolling
interest; and the legal representatives, agenttliats, heirs,
successors-in-interest, or assigns of any sucluead|party’

52. Numerosity. The members of this Class are so numerous thnaigo
of all members is impracticable. While the exaamber of members is unknown
to Plaintiffs at this time, and can be ascertaiorly through discovery, Plaintiffs
reasonably believe that more than twenty individiaake members or beneficiaries
of the ECEI Plan during the Class Period.

53. Commonality. The claims of Plaintiffs and the proposed Clasgeha
common origin and share a common basis. All Clasmbers suffered from the
same misconduct complained of herein, and thegudfered injury as a result of
the breaches of duties and violations of ERISA tbah the basis of this lawsuit.
Proceeding as a class is particularly appropriges because the ECEI Plan’s
assets are held in one the same Fidelity brokemageunt. Furthermore, common
guestions of law and fact exist as to all membéith® class. The many questions

of law and fact common to the Class include, batrat limited to:

a. whether the Defendants are fiduciaries undeSBERI

% This Class definition is not intended to circunitserthe relevant time period for this action.
Conduct relevant to Plaintiffs injuries may havewted outside of the class period.

18
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b. whether the Defendants breached their fidudaties under
ERISA,

c. whether the Defendants actions complained agihanjured plan
participants and their beneficiaries who had ineesin the ECEI
Plan.

54. Typicality . Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims d¢fet members
of the Class because their class claims are subsiynidentical to the claims of
the class members. If each member of the Class twdyang and prosecute these
claims individually, each member of the Class wondtessarily be required to
prove the instant claims upon the same materialsahdtantive facts and would
seek the same type of relief.

55. Adequacy. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect thrgerests of
the Class members. Plaintiffs have no interestsateg or would be, antagonistic
to or in conflict with those of the members of @kass. Plaintiffs will vigorously
protect the interests of the members of the Clddsteover, Plaintiffs have
retained counsel who are competent and experienceldss actions, ERISA, and
securities litigation matters. The undersigned selihave and will devote the time
and other resources necessary to litigate thisaaséfectively as possible.

56. Rule 23(b)(1)(A) and (B) requirements Class certification in this

ERISA action is warranted under Federal Rule ofil(Arocedure 23(b)(1)(A)

19
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because prosecution of separate actions by memobéhe Class would create a
risk of establishing incompatible standards of amtdor Defendants. Certification
also is warranted under Federal Rule of Civil Pdoce 23(b)(1)(B) because
prosecution of separate actions by individual Classnbers would, as a practical
matter, be dispositive of the interests of the otimembers not parties to the
actions, or substantially impair or impede theitighto protect their interests.

57. Rule 23(b)(2) requirements Class certification under Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2) is warranted becauséebaants have acted or refused
to act on grounds generally applicable to the Cldssreby making appropriate
final injunctive, declaratory, or other equitabédief with respect to the Class as a
whole.

58. Rule 23(b)(3) requirements In the alternative, certification under
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3) is apprater because questions of law
and fact common to members of the Class predommadeany questions (if any)
affecting only individual Class members. Moreov@rglass action is superior to
other available methods for the fair and efficiadfudication of this controversy.

COUNT I: VIOLATION OF ERISA §§ 404(a)(1)(B) and (C)

BREACH OF DUTIES OF PRUDENCE AND DIVERSIFICATION

(BY ALL PLAINTIFFS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

59. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by referenceagaphs 1-58 as if

set forth fully herein.

20



Case 3:16-cv-00502-MCR-CJK Document 1 Filed 09/30/16 Page 21 of 26

60. Defendants were fiduciaries, as discussed abovéhdoPlan and their
participants, including Plaintiffs and the propos#dss.

61. A fiduciary must comply with the duty of prudenaehich includes,
inter alia, the duty to diversify and to monitor and remorgroper investments.
In carrying out these duties, fiduciaries must clymyth the care, skill, prudence,
and diligence of a prudent person under the cirtamegs then prevailing.

62. The U.S. Department of Labor (“DOL”) and case laavé interpreted
this duty. In order to comply with the duty of pamte, a fiduciary must give
“appropriate consideration to those facts and anstances that, given the scope of
such fiduciary’'s investment duties, the fiduciarjolws or should know are
relevant to the particular investment or investmeatirse of action involved,
including the role that the investment or investtnssurse of action plays in that
portion of the plan’s investment portfolio with pest to which the fiduciary has
investment duties.” 29 C.F.R. § 2550.404a-1(b)(Appropriate consideration,”
according to DOL regulations, includes but is netessarily limited to: “(i)[a]
determination by the fiduciary that the particularestment or investment course
of action is reasonably designed, as part of thifgho (or whether applicable,
that portion of the plan portfolio with respectviich the fiduciary has investment
duties), to further the purposes of the plan, tgkmo consideration the risk of loss

and the opportunity for gain (or other return) assted with the investment or
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investment course of action; and (ii) [c]Jonsideratof the following factors ...:
(A) [tlhe composition of the portfolio with regar diversification, (B) [t]he
liquidity and current return of the portfolio ralag to the anticipated cash flow
requirements of the plan; and (c) [t]he projectetinn of the portfolio relative to
the funding objectives of the plan.” 29 C.F.R. $@304a-1(b)(2).

63. Defendants’ conduct with respect to the ECEI Plaolated in
numerous ways their fiduciary duties of prudencd diversification as alleged
above.

64. Defendants’ actions directly and proximately caussdbstantial
financial harm to Plaintiffs and the proposed Cl#&ssa result of this wrongdoing,
Defendants are liable for all resulting loss anohage.

COUNT II: ERISA RETALIATION UNDER 29 U.S.C. § 1140
(PLAINTIFFS LYNN MCLAIN AND COLLEEN GAMER INDIVIDUALLY
AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTYS)

65. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by paragraptis Jas if set forth
fully herein.

66. Plaintiffs were participants in the ECEI Plan whishs governed by

ERISA, and Plaintiffs and/or their family memberrripated in ECEI's health

insurance plan.
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67. Plaintiffs engaged in protected activities by coanphg and
participating in inquiries relating to the ECEI Rland Defendants’ failure to fulfill
their fiduciary duties relating to the ECEI Plan.

68. As a result, Defendants terminated Plaintiffs McLaind Gamer.
Plaintiffs’ complaints were a direct and proximatause of their termination.
Defendants specifically intended to retaliate agfailaintiff and violated ERISA.
29 U.S.C. § 1140.

69. Plaintiffs McLain and Gamer seek appropriate edldtaand other
relief to redress Defendants’ violations and tooecd the applicable provisions of
ERISA and the governing plans. 29 U.S.C. § 1133ja)(

COUNT IlI: WRONGFUL TERMINATION UNDER FLORIDA’S

WHISTLE-BLOWER ACT
(PLAINTIFFS LYNN MCLAIN AND COLLEEN GAMER INDIVIDUALLY
AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

70. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by paragraptis Jas if set forth
fully herein.

71. At all times relevant, Plaintiffs were entitled ttee protections of the
Florida Whistle-Blower Act as employees of Defendanvho were “employers”
as that term is defined by Section 448.101(1),itoStatutes.

72. The foregoing facts and circumstances demonsthate Refendants

have violated Section 448.102, Florida Statutesuthawfully retaliating against
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Plaintiffs McLain and Gamer because of their abmferenced statutorily
protected activity.

73. Plaintiffs McLain and Gamer have been damaged arext and
proximate result of the actions of Defendants. Sdmmages, which are both past
and future, include loss of employment, wagesgerais increments in such wages,
and the loss of non-salary benefits and emolumaingnployment. Additionally,
Plaintiffs have suffered and will continue to suffmental anguish, pain and
suffering, humiliation, embarrassment, and mentdl @motional distress.

74. Plaintiffs have further been required to retaim@eys to assist them
in asserting their claims and protecting their tsgh

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray for relief as foll@w
A. A determination that this action is a propkxss action and certification of
the proposed Class, with Plaintiffs as class reyadive and its counsel as

Class Counsel, pursuant to Federal Rule of CivatBdure 23.

B. A declaration that the Defendants, and eackhem, have breached their

ERISA duties to the Plaintiffs and the Class.

C. An order compelling the Defendants to makedgmothe Plaintiffs and the

Class their plans the losses resulting from Defatalebreaches of their

fiduciary duties; and to disgorge to the Plaintdfsd the Class all monies the
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Defendants made through their wrongful use of tlaengffs and the Class’s
assets;

Imposition of a Constructive Trust on any amisuby which any Defendant
was unjustly enriched at the expense of the Pftardind the Class, and their
plans as a result of the aforementioned ERISA timig;

An amount equal to the amount of any lossakddlaintiffs and the Class,
and the ERISA plans included in the Class to becated among the
participants’ individual accounts within the plans proportion to the
accounts’ losses;

An award of costs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 19)32(

An award of attorneys’ fees pursuant to 29 0.8.1132(g) and other law;
An award for equitable restitution and othgmpmpriate equitable and
injunctive relief against the Defendants;

For Plaintiffs McLain and Gamer’s individual 29S.C. § 1140 claims, any
and all wages and economic benefits lost as atrebllefendants’ ERISA
violations, including Plaintiffs’ wrongful dischaegunder ERISA, including
but not limited to reinstatement, back pay, frorgy,pand any other
appropriate equitable relief pursuant to 29 U.8CL132(a)(3) to redress
Defendants’ violations and to enforce the termahaf governing ERISA

plans;
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J.  For Plaintiffs McLain and Gamer’s individualarhs under Florida’s
Whistle-Blower Act, Plaintiffs demand damages fostl wages, benefits,
and other remuneration; reinstatement or back pdya event reinstatement
Is not awarded; reinstatement of full fringe betsefind seniority rights;
damages for mental and emotional distress; compmysdamages; interest
— including pre-judgment interest on lost wagestgoattorneys’ fees; and
such other relief as this Court deems appropréatd,;

K. An award of such other and further relieflas Court deems just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury on aBues so triable.

Dated: September 30, 2016 /s/ Michael C. Bixby
Michael C. Bixby, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 111367
Peter J. Mougey, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 0191825
LEVIN, PAPANTONIO, MITCHELL,
RAFFERTY & PROCTOR P.A.
316 S. Baylen Street, Suite 600
Pensacola, FL 32502
Tel: (850) 435-7068
Fax: (850) 436-6068
mbixby@levinlaw.com
pmougey@levinlaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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